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DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

THE STATE OF NEVADA, ) 
) 

Plaintiff, ) CASE NO.  C-17-323098-1 
) 

v. ) DEPT. NO. II 
) 

RAMON MURIL DORADO, ) 
) DATE:  June     ,2017 

Defendant, ) TIME:  9:00 a.m. 
) 

MOTION TO DISMISS FOR FAILURE 
TO PRESERVE EVIDENCE 

COMES NOW, the Defendant, RAMON MURIL DORADO, by and through his 

attorney, VIOLET R. RADOSTA, Deputy Public Defender, and moves this Honorable Court for an order 

dismissing the indictment for failure to preserve evidence during the initial investigation of this case in 

April 1999 thereby violating his constitutional rights to due process and a fair trial. 

This Motion is based upon the attached Declaration of Counsel, any documents attached 

hereto, argument of Counsel and any information provided to the Court at the time set for hearing this 

motion. 

DATED this 20
th
 of June, 2017. 

PHILIP J. KOHN 

CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER 

By: _/s/ Violet R Radosta___________________ 
VIOLET R. RADOSTA, #5747 
Deputy Public Defender 

Case Number: C-17-323098-1

Electronically Filed
6/20/2017 7:44 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT

July 26, 2017
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DECLARATION 

  VIOLET R. RADOSTA makes the following declaration: 

1. That I am an attorney duly licensed to practice law in the State of Nevada; 

that I am the Deputy Public Defender assigned to represent the Defendant in the instant matter, 

and that I am familiar with the facts and circumstances of this case. 

2. I am more than 18 years of age and am competent to testify as to the 

matters stated herein.  I am familiar with the procedural history of the case and the substantive 

allegations made by The State of Nevada.  I also have personal knowledge of the facts stated 

herein or I have been informed of these facts and believe them to be true.  

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. (NRS 

53.045). 

  EXECUTED this 20
th

  day of June, 2017. 

             

     __/s/ Violet R Radosta______________________  

     VIOLET R. RADOSTA 
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POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

FACTS 

 On April 24, 1999, Michelle Lehr contacted Las Vegas Metropolitan Police and reported 

that she had been sexually assaulted by a man she knew casually.  She had met up with friends at 

the Silver Saddle bar around midnight on April 24, 1999.  At approximately 7 am, Ms. Lehr and 

her male acquaintance left the Silver Saddle in her car purportedly to meet up with friends at a 

PT’s pub.  Instead, Ms. Lehr drove to the man’s apartment at 2101 Sunrise Ave.  They went 

inside the apartment where there was at least one other man, who was younger than Ms. Lehr.   

Shortly after she arrived at the apartment, the younger man left to go to the store.  Soon after 

arriving, Ms. Lehr claims that the man who she knew casually picked her up and dragged her 

into the bedroom where he proceeded to sexually assault her.  (GJT 9-11).    She claims she 

stabbed him with a safety pin to get him to let her go, but it didn’t work.  Eventually, the man 

moved away from her and she was able to walk out of the bedroom and the apartment.  (GJT 13).  

She got into her car and told the other roommate, who had returned at some point and followed 

her outside, that she was going to report the incident to the police.  (GJT 13). 

 She went to the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department substation on St. Louis, after 

stopping at her friend’s apartment to check on her son.   She made a report and was transported 

to University Medical Center for a medical exam. (GJT 13).  All of that occurred on April 24, 

1999. 

 Michelle Lehr was interviewed by LVMPD M. Hnatuick on April 24, 1999.  The 

interview was conducted at the University Medical Center quiet room.  During her interview, 

Ms. Lehr was able to provide a specific address of the apartment building where the alleged 

assault took place as 2101 Sunrise Avenue.  She was also able to identify the location of the 
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apartment as the lower right downstairs apartment.  She identified the casual male acquaintance 

as a Hispanic male named Raymond, 5’6 or 5’7, black hair, brown eyes, medium complexion 

wearing a light shirt, black pants, black tie and brown cowboy boots.  She told Detective 

Hnatuick that the individual had scratches all over his face, but that the scratches had been on his 

face when she had met man earlier in the evening. 

 Fast forward 16 years to October 27, 2015 and Ms. Lehr’s sexual assault examination kit 

was submitted to the LVMPD forensic lab for testing.  On December 15, 2015, a hit from the 

Combined DNA Index System (CODIS) identified Ramon Muric Dorado a potential for the male 

DNA in Ms. Lehr’s SANE kit.  Based on that information, in January 2016 LVMPD obtained a 

search warrant signed by Judge Nancy Alf and requesting a buccal swab be obtained from 

Ramon Muric Dorado.   

 On November 17, 2016, LVMPD forensic lab tested the buccal swab and determined that 

one of the swabs taken in the SANE kit potentially contained DNA from Mr. Dorado.   

 On April 17, 2017, Mr. Dorado was arrested on charges of sexual assault.  He appeared in 

Las Vegas Justice Court on April 19, 2017 and the Public Defender’s office was appointed to 

represent him.  A preliminary hearing date was set for May 26, 2017.   

 On April 26, 2017, Deputy District Attorney Jake Villani presented evidence in this 

matter to the grand jury.  After hearing the evidence presented by the prosecution, the grand jury 

deliberated for less than 1 minute and then indicted Mr. Dorado on 3 counts of Sexual Assault. 

 Mr. Dorado first appeared in the Eighth Judicial District Court Department II on May 4, 

2017.  The matter was continued 2 weeks at Mr. Dorado’s request.  On May 18, 2017, Mr. 

Dorado requested one more week to review the case with his attorney before entering a plea and 

to allow his attorney the opportunity to file a motion for own recognizance release to be heard at 

the same time as his entry of plea.  That request was denied by the Court and the Court entered a 
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not guilty plea on behalf of Mr. Dorado.  The Court also instructed Mr. Dorado and his counsel 

that an own recognizance motion would still be heard by the Court if it was filed.   

 Mr. Dorado invoked his right to a speedy trial and his trial date was set for July 17, 2017 

with a calendar call date of July 11, 2017. 

 This Motion to Dismiss all charges pending against Mr. Dorado follows. 

 

 

ARGUMENT 

 All criminal defendants are entitled to a fair trial pursuant to the Due Process Clauses of 

the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments of the U.S. Constitution and Article I, Section 8 of the 

Nevada Constitution.  Due to the complete and total lack of investigation by the Las Vegas 

Metropolitan Police Department in 1999, when Ms. Lehr first reported this alleged crime, Mr. 

Dorado is unable to receive a fair trial.   The actions or lack of action by the Las Vegas 

Metropolitan Police Department warrant dismissal of all charges against Mr. Dorado. 

Injustice arises from the State's failure to gather evidence.  State v. Ware, 118 N.M. 319, 

881 P.2d 679 (N.M. 1994).   In a criminal investigation, police officers generally have no duty to 

collect all potential evidence. . . however, this rule is not absolute.   Randolph v. State, 117 Nev. 

970, 987, 36 P.3d 424, 435 (2001) (internal citations omitted).  Daniels v. State, 114 Nev. 262, 

956 P.2d 111 (1998).   In certain cases, “a failure to gather evidence may warrant sanctions 

against the State.”  Daniels v. State, 114 Nev. 262, 268, 956 P.2d 111, 115 (1998).   

The Nevada Supreme Court has adopted a two-part test to determine when dismissal of 

charges is warranted due to the State's failure to gather or preserve evidence.  Daniels. at 267-68, 

956 P.2d at 115.  First, the defense must “show that the evidence was material, i.e., that there is a 

reasonable probability that the result of the proceedings would have been different if the 

evidence had been available.”  Second, “if the evidence was material, the court must determine 
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whether the failure to gather it resulted from negligence, gross negligence, or bad faith.”  See id.; 

see also Randolph, 117 Nev. at 987, 36 P.3d at 435.   In the case of mere negligence, no 

sanctions are imposed, but the defense may question the State's witnesses about their 

investigative deficiencies.  See id.   If the Court determines that the State acted with gross 

negligence, the defense is entitled to a presumption that the evidence would have been 

unfavorable to the State. Finally, in the case of bad faith, dismissal of the charges may be 

warranted.  Randolph, 117 Nev. at 987, 36 P.3d at 435 (citing Daniels, 114 Nev. at 267, 956 P.2d 

at 115).   

As stated above, Ms. Lehr was interviewed by LVMPD Detective Hnatuick on April 24, 

1999 at 2:50 in the afternoon. (Ms. Lehr’s interview is attached as Exhibit #1).  She reported that 

at approximately 7am, she drove herself and a man she had been drinking and dancing with 

earlier in the night at the Silver Saddle, to his apartment at 2101 Sunrise Ave.  She didn’t know 

the specific apartment number, but told the detective that it was the downstairs apartment on the 

right-hand side.  Detectives never went to that apartment or even to that apartment building to 

investigate if anyone had heard screaming or witnessed Ms. Lehr leaving the apartment earlier 

that day. 

Ms. Lehr also told detectives that when she entered the apartment with the unidentified 

man, there was another younger man in the apartment who was approximately 20 years old.  She 

was introduced to the younger man by the man she had driven to the apartment, but she couldn’t 

recall his name for detectives.  Prior to Ms. Lehr allegedly being picked up and taken into the 

bedroom, the young man left the apartment to go to the store.  Ms. Lehr told the detective that 

upon leaving the bedroom after the alleged assault, she discovered the young man had returned 

to the apartment.  She allegedly left the bedroom crying which the young man would have seen.  

Ms. Lehr told detectives she didn’t simply leave the bedroom and the apartment, but took the 
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time to speak to the young man.  She even remembered that she called the man that had allegedly 

attacked her an ‘asshole’ and then the young man asked what happened.  Per her statement to 

detectives, Ms. Lehr told the young man what had just happened in the bedroom. 

After speaking with the young man in the living room, Ms. Lehr left the apartment in a 

hurry with the young man following after her asking if she was mad at him.  Ms. Lehr noticed 

that two women in the apartment complex were so surprised by her appearance or her rushing 

out of the apartment or the young man following after her or her hurriedly adjusting her clothes 

that the two ladies just stared at her as she got into her car and drove away. 

According to Ms. Lehr, there is one potential witness who was inside the apartment when 

she arrived and could verify her presence in the apartment with the unidentified man.  That same 

person left for a short period of time, but was inside the apartment at the moment Ms. Lehr left 

the bedroom.  He could have been a witness to her demeanor and her appearance as well as those 

of the unidentified man who appears to be a roommate of this young man.  Beyond that, Ms. 

Lehr TOLD HIM WHAT HAPPENED.  He could have been a confirmatory witness for the State 

had the detectives gone to the apartment and simply made some inquiries.  Finally, there are two 

other potential witnesses who saw her leave the apartment potentially upset and adjusting her 

clothes.  She was noticeable enough in her description that the two ladies stared.  Once again, 

those women might have been located had the detectives simply gone to the apartment complex 

after taking Ms. Lehr’s statement. 

To look at it from the opposite view, had the detectives gone to that apartment complex 

and spoken with the young man, he may not have corroborated Ms. Lehr’s statement.  He may 

not have heard anything that sounded like a struggle or been told that his roommate was an 

‘asshole’ as Ms. Lehr recalled.    Furthermore, the two ladies may have had a different version of 

what they saw had they been located and interviewed by the detectives.  Multiple eye-witnesses 
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to the alleged attack or the moments immediately following the alleged attack could provide an 

immense amount of information that is no longer available to the defense.  This is directly due to 

the lack of investigation by the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department.  At this point, the 

defense is left to speculate what those witnesses saw and heard that day.     

Evidence is material when there is a reasonable probability that had the evidence been 

available to the defense the result of the proceedings would have been different.   Randolph v. 

State, 117 Nev. 970, 987, 36 P.3d 424, 435 (2001).  An eyewitness who was present at the actual 

time of the assault, or who could testify about the appearance and demeanor of the Ms. Lehr 

upon leaving the bedroom or the apartment, or could repeat the story she told immediately after 

leaving the bedroom the eyewitness is material evidence standing on its own.  In this case, there 

isn’t simply one eyewitness but many and none of them were interviewed by the police despite 

the police knowing they existed within a few hours of the alleged assault when their memories 

would have been the freshest.   Now, the State will be able to present the uncontroverted 

testimony of the complaining witness to the jury, which is not a fair or accurate portrayal of the 

allegations.  The State is able to present this snowy white version due to their own failings.    The 

cumulative nature of so much material evidence not being available to the defense clearly rises to 

the level of bad faith on the part of the detectives in this case, which requires dismissal of the 

charges.  Had the detectives simply missed one witness interview then maybe the State could 

argue it was negligence or gross negligence on the part of the investigating officers.  This is an 

example of bad faith due to the amount of uninvestigated information and the nature of that 

uninvestigated information.   

Beyond likely witnesses to the alleged assault, there is other evidence that was not 

gathered or even looked for in this case.  Ms. Lehr tells of a struggle in the bedroom where her 

clothes were forcibly taken off her including her pantyhose.  She kicked at the man and even 
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stabbed him on the hand with a safety pin from her clothes.  She described a struggle around the 

bedroom room that was at times on the bed and at times on the floor.  She said she tried reaching 

for something to use to get him off her but only found clothes around the room.   

Based on her description, the police could have sought a search warrant and gone to that 

apartment to look for signs of a struggle.  This was a few hours after the alleged assault.  They 

also could have looked for injuries to the hand or hands of the men who lived at the apartment or 

safety pins on the floor in an effort to corroborate Ms. Lehr’s version of events.  Instead, they did 

nothing.  And, as a result of them doing nothing, there are no crime scene photos, no crime scene 

analysis of the bedsheets and no way for the defense to forensically challenge Ms. Lehr’s version 

of what occurred that day 18 years ago.  Once again, the lack of investigation allows the State to 

present a distorted version of the events that allegedly occurred that morning 19 years ago.  The 

lack of investigation also precludes the defense from having the ability to present a full and 

complete defense.   

In yet another example of how the evidence was disregarded, Ms. Lehr told detectives 

that she had met the man at the Silver Saddle the night before when she was hanging out with her 

friend Candy.  Per her interview, Ms. Lehr’s friend Candy had been dancing with the man that 

had allegedly attacked Ms. Lehr.  Ms. Lehr also told detectives that the individual had been in a 

band, played bass or drums and his name was Raymond.  Detectives failed to go to the Silver 

Saddle to see if there was any video footage from the night before that would corroborate Ms. 

Lehr’s story.  They also could have spoken to bartenders to see how much each of them had to 

drink.  Ms. Lehr told detectives she had only one drink because she didn’t like to get drunk.  

Perhaps that wasn’t the case.  Had detectives gone to the Silver Saddle and asked a few questions 

Ms. Lehr’s details about the hours leading up to the alleged attack would have been confirmed or 

would have been shown to be not true, but detectives didn’t bother. 
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Finally, Ms. Lehr told detectives that after the incident she went to her friend Candy’s 

house to pick up her son and it was decided then that Metro would be contacted.  Detectives 

didn’t bother to interview a witness who could have been a benefit to the State’s case in that she 

was a friend of Ms. Lehr’s.  

This is a case where not a single piece of evidence wasn’t gathered or investigated.  The 

Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department didn’t investigate anything connected to this 

allegation.  They merely took a statement and did nothing else to investigate this case.   While it 

is anticipated that the State will argue, they have no duty to investigate a case in order to produce 

exculpatory evidence for a potential criminal defendant, this is a very unique situation due to the 

age of the case and lack of investigation.  Mr. Dorado is an individual accused of a crime 

allegedly committed 18 years ago.  He is at a complete disadvantage to locate potential witnesses 

and evidence to defend himself and show that he did not commit the crime he is accused of 

committing.  There is no 911 call on file with LVMPD anymore due to their policy of destroying 

calls after a certain period of time.  Perhaps someone heard a woman yelling and screaming as 

she left the apartment and threatening Mr. Dorado.  We will never know.  It appears that the 

apartment building located at 2101 Sunrise Avenue may have been torn down sometime in the 

last 18 years, so the defense cannot subpoena the lease records of anyone living at that address in 

1999.  If there were any potential witnesses at that address, we will never know.  For the sake of 

argument, if the defense is able to locate someone who had relevant information, their memory is 

not as fresh as it would have been in 1999.  Witnesses should be interviewed as close in time to 

the alleged incident when their memory was fresh. 

The State may argue that Mr. Dorado’s DNA was purportedly identified as part of Ms. 

Lehr’s sexual assault kit, so there is no need for all the superlative evidence the defense is 

pointing out.   Even if that result is correct, the case doesn’t end there.  The details of that night 
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are important, the eye witnesses’ impressions of Ms. Lehr’s behavior both before and after the 

alleged attack are important, the potential eye witness who was inside the apartment could be 

extremely important.  Unfortunately, all that information is lost forever and there is no way it can 

be recovered.   

It is anticipated that the argument from the prosecutor will be that the attitude regarding 

the prosecution of sex assault cases was considerable different in 1999 than it is today, that 

purported attitude is not relevant to the case before this Court.  Mr. Dorado is a defendant who is 

entitled to every constitutional right afforded to him by the United States and Nevada 

Constitutions.  Mr. Dorado has a constitutional right to due process and a fair trial.  Whatever 

reason the State offers for the lack of investigation into this allegation is immaterial.  They have 

made the decision to prosecute him and are responsible for the current condition of their case.     

Due to the complete failure of the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department to 

investigate this case, Mr. Dorado cannot receive a fair trial in this case.  A mere fraction of the 

evidence in this case will be presented if this case proceeds to trial and that is not the definition 

of a fair trial. 

The defense respectfully requests that the Court dismiss all charges against Mr. Dorado.  

The evidence that was not obtained in this case is clearly material and the utter lack of interest in 

investigating this case combined with the 18 years that have passed since the allegation 

demonstrate that LMVPD acted in bad faith by not investigating.  The delay in prosecuting this 

case makes it impossible for Mr. Dorado to present an effective defense. 

 

CONCLUSION 

The defense respectfully requests that the Court dismiss all charges against Mr. Dorado.   

Mr. Dorado cannot receive a fair trial pursuant to the Due Process Clauses of the Fifth and 
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Fourteenth Amendments of the U.S. Constitution and Article I, Section 8 of the Nevada 

Constitution.  Due to the complete and total lack of investigation by the Las Vegas Metropolitan 

Police Department in 1999, when Ms. Lehr first reported this alleged crime, Mr. Dorado’s 

constitutional rights are being violated simply by the State’s decision to prosecute this case.  The 

actions or lack of action by the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department warrant dismissal of 

all charges against Mr. Dorado.  

 DATED this 20
th

  day of June, 2017. 

PHILIP J. KOHN 

CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER 

 

     By:__/s/ Violet R Radosta_____________________ 

 VIOLET R. RADOSTA, #5747 

           Deputy Public Defender 
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NOTICE OF MOTION 

 TO: CLARK COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY, Attorney for Plaintiff: 

 YOU WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the foregoing Motion To Dismiss will 

be heard on               , at 9:00 am in District Court Department II. 

DATED this 20
th

  day of June, 2017. 

PHILIP J. KOHN 

CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER 

 
 

     By:__/s/ Violet R Radosta_________________ 
 VIOLET R. RADOSTA, #5747 
 Deputy Public Defender 

 

 

 

 

 

CERTIFICATE OF ELECTRONIC FILING 

  I hereby certify that service of the above and foregoing was served via electronic 

e-filing to the Clark County District Attorney’s Office on the 20
th

 day of June, 2017 by 

Electronic Filing to: 

       

       District Attorneys Office 

       E-Mail Address:  

       Jaclyn.Motl@clarkcountyda.com  

 

 

       /s/ Anita H Harrold____________________ 

       Secretary for the Public Defender’s Office 
 

  

July 6, 2017
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PHILIP J. KOHN, PUBLIC DEFENDER 
NEVADA BAR NO. 0556 
VIOLET R. RADOSTA, DEPUTY PUBLIC DEFENDER 
NEVADA BAR NO. 5747 
PUBLIC DEFENDERS OFFICE 
309 South Third Street, Suite 226 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 
Telephone: (702) 455-4685 
Facsimile: (702) 455-5112 
radostvr@co.clark.nv.us 
Attorneys for Defendant 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 
THE STATE OF NEVADA, ) 
 ) 
 Plaintiff, ) CASE NO.  C-17-323098-1 
 ) 

v. ) DEPT. NO. II 
 ) 

RAMON MURIL DORADO, ) 
 )  
 Defendant, )  
 ) 
  

REPLY TO STATE’S OPPOSITION TO DEFENSE  
MOTION TO DISMISS FOR DESTRUCTION OF EVIDENCE 

 
 

  COMES NOW, the Defendant, RAMON MURIL DORADO, by and through his 

attorney, VIOLET R. RADOSTA, Deputy Public Defender, and files this Reply to the State’s 

Opposition to Defense’s Motion to Dismiss for Destruction of Evidence and moves this Honorable 

Court for an order dismissing the charges for destroying the audio copy of the initial interview 

with M.L. and the violation of Mr. Dorado’s constitutional right to Due Process by destroying 

material and exculpable evidence. 

  DATED this 14
th

  of August, 2017. 

 

      PHILIP J. KOHN 

CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER 

 

 

     By:    /s/Violet R. Radosta   
           VIOLET R. RADOSTA, #5747 
           Deputy Public Defender 

Case Number: C-17-323098-1

Electronically Filed
8/14/2017 7:17 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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DECLARATION 

  VIOLET R. RADOSTA makes the following declaration: 

1. That I am an attorney duly licensed to practice law in the State of Nevada; 

that I am the Deputy Public Defender assigned to represent the Defendant in the instant matter, 

and that I am familiar with the facts and circumstances of this case. 

2. I am more than 18 years of age and am competent to testify as to the matters 

stated herein.  I am familiar with the procedural history of the case and the substantive 

allegations made by The State of Nevada.  I also have personal knowledge of the facts stated 

herein or I have been informed of these facts and believe them to be true. 

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. (NRS 

53.045). 

  EXECUTED this 14
th

 day of August, 2017. 

             

      _/s/ Violet R Radosta________________________ 

      VIOLET R. RADOSTA 
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POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

ARGUMENT 

A. The destruction of the audio recording was done in bad faith 

 The Nevada Supreme Court has never outlined a specific test to determine if the State acted 

in bad faith. Rather, the analysis must be done on a case-by-case basis.   In this case, thre were 

many avenues of investigation that were not explored as previously argued in Defense Motion to 

Dismiss for Failure to Preserve Evidence filed 6/29/17.  Considering the investigation done and not 

done in this case, the words and testimony of complaining witness M.L. are the centerpiece of the 

State’s case against Mr. Dorado.   

In this case, Detective Hnatuick, interviewed M.L on the day of the alleged assault and 

made the decision to audio record the interview.  There was no requirement that he record the 

interview, but presumably, Detective Hnatuick took that extra step so the details of the interview 

would be fully and accurately memorialized.   Afterwards, he submitted the audio recording for 

transcription, once again presumably so the details of the interview would be properly 

memorialized.  Unfortunately, portions of the interview were not transcribed
1
, thereby making the 

transcript of the audio recording essentially worthless.    

The State argues that Detective Hnatuick’s action in submitting the tape for transcription 

shows that his failure to preserve the only audio copy of M.L.’s interview wasn’t done in bad faith.  

While he did attempt to get a transcript, it is Hnatuick’s lack of action that shows his bad faith.  

After receiving the transcript, the audio recording was returned to him.  Upon seeing the multiple 

blanks in the relatively short transcript, he opted to simply throw the tape in his desk drawer rather 

than take 10 minutes to book it into evidence.  Even if it wasn’t common to impound tapes after 

transcription, as the State argues, it certainly wasn’t prohibited.  To allow the only memorialization 

of an interview with an alleged victim in a sexual assault case to simply be tossed into a drawer 

                                                           
1
 The State declares the reason there are blanks in the transcript is due to the quality of the recording and the 

professional transcriber could not make out the words on the tape.  (Opposition, p. 7).  There is nothing to support this 

claim.   
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and then thrown in the trash upon the Detective’s retirement amounts to bad faith on the 

Detective’s part.     

Furthermore, if the value was in the transcript alone, then why was the audio-recording not 

destroyed immediately after the transcript was produced?  Logically, it wasn’t destroyed because 

LVMPD knew they had a duty to preserve all evidence collected in a case.  The determination of 

“bad faith” is done on a case-by-case basis and given the lack of investigation in this case and the 

length of time between accusation and prosecution, the destruction of the only copy of the 

statement by the alleged victim rises to the level of bad faith.  

 

B. Mr. Dorado is Prejudiced by the Destruction of this Evidence 

 If the Court does not agree that there was bad faith on the part of Detective Hnatuick, there 

is also strong evidence of the prejudicial effect the loss of this evidence will have on the defense.   

In its Opposition, the prosecution repeatedly argued that it was mere speculation on the part of the 

defense that the audio recording would have been helpful had it been turned over to the defense.   

In a he said/she said case like this one, the details of the alleged incidents are of vital importance 

and the destruction of the audio recording of M.L.’s statement prevents the defense from knowing 

the details as she recalled them within hours of the alleged assault.  The State argues that M.L will 

be present to testify at the trial and the defense is able to cross examine her regarding any 

inconsistencies in her testimony (Opposition, p. 6), but that is simply not true.  Without a complete 

transcript of her original statement to police, how does the defense even know about 

inconsistencies?   Given the length in time between the accusation and the prosecution, there are 

bound to be inconsistencies in M.L.’s story, but without the destroyed recording the defense 

doesn’t know what she said originally.  This stifles the defense’s ability to effectively cross 

examine M.L. 

In Sanborn v. State, the defense was claiming self-defense in a homicide case.   The 

prosecution mishandled a gun that possibly could have supported the self-defense defense.   The 

self-defense claim was only supported at trial by the testimony of Sanborn because there were no 
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witnesses to the homicide.  The Nevada Supreme Court stated in that case that the State’s case was 

‘buttressed by the absence of that evidence.’   The court also stated that the prosecution ‘cannot be 

allowed to benefit in such a manner from its failure to preserve evidence.’  Sanborn v. State, 107 

Nev. 399, (1991) citing Sparks v. State, 104 Nev. 316 (1988).    Due to the destruction of the 

original recording, the State is clearly benefitting.  They will be able to hold M.L. up as a credible 

witness because it will appear as though M.L. has consistently told the same version of the alleged 

assault for the last 19 years.   The value of M.L.’s initial statement to the police cannot be 

emphasized strongly enough.   

The allegations of sexual assault make this case different from most others.  “The crime of 

rape is rarely perpetrated in the presence of witnesses other than the defendant and the victim and 

great reliance must be placed on the testimony of the victim, and, if given, the defendant. Thus, the 

presence or absence of other evidence which would support or refute the testimony of the involved 

parties has the potential for great significance.”  Cook v. State, 114 Nev. 120 (1998), citing State v. 

Havas, 95 Nev. 706 (1979).   In Cook, the Nevada Supreme Court reversed a conviction for sexual 

assault because the State failed to preserve the alleged victim’s initial statement to police as well as 

other pieces of evidence in the case.      

Finally, the State places a high value on the presence of the DNA in M.L’s vagina in this 

case and argues that evidence takes this case out of the he said/she said category.  That might be 

the correct if the facts of this case were different and M.L. and Mr. Dorado did not know each 

other.   The potential presence of DNA does not prove the sexual assault.  The circumstances 

surrounding the sexual activity that day will prove or disprove the sexual assault, which is once 

again why the audio recording of M.L.’s initial statement to police is exculpatory and the loss and 

destruction of it is prejudicial to Mr. Dorado.  The defense respectfully requests the charges be 

dismissed due to the State’s destruction of the audio recording of M.L.’s interview.   

… 

… 

… 
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CONCLUSION 

These charges must be dismissed if the Court finds either bad faith on part of the government 

or that Mr. Dorado was unduly prejudiced by the destruction of apparent exculpable evidence. 

Here, Mr. Dorado has shown both. The evidence was destroyed in direct disregard for Metro’s 

normal procedure and it could have been reasonably anticipated that the contents of the audio were 

material and exculpable before the audio was destroyed.  As such, Mr. Dorado’s Due Process 

rights have been violated and these charges must be dismissed.  

  DATED this 14
th

  day of August, 2017. 

PHILIP J. KOHN 

CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER 

 
 

     By:_/s/ Violet R Radosta___________________ 

 VIOLET R. RADOSTA, #5747 

           Deputy Public Defender 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

CERTIFICATE OF ELECTRONIC FILING 

  I hereby certify that service of the above and foregoing was served via electronic e-

filing to the Clark County District Attorney’s Office on the 14
th

  day of August, 2017 by Electronic 

Filing to: 

       

       District Attorneys Office 

       E-Mail Address:  

       Jaclyn.Motl@clarkcountyda.com  

 

 

       /s/ Anita H Harrold____________________ 

       Secretary for the Public Defender’s Office 
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MTN 
THOMAS F. PITARO, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 1332 
DUSTIN R. MARCELLO, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10134 
PITARO & FUMO, CHTD. 
601 Las Vegas Boulevard, South  
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
Phone (702) 474-7554 Fax (702) 474-4210 
Email: kristine.fumolaw@gmail.com 
Attorney for Defendant 
 

IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 
* * * 

STATE OF NEVADA                 )                                                                         
) 

Plaintiff      )           Case No: 17-C323098-1 
)  

v.       ) Dept: XVIII 
                                                                 )    
RAMON DORADO           )  MOTION TO DISMISS 
       ) FOR PRE-INDICTMENT DELAY  

Defendant     ) AND LACK OF JURISIDICTION 
__________________________________________) 

 

COMES NOW the defendant, RAMON DORADO, by and through his attorney of 

record, Thomas F. Pitaro, Esq., and Dustin R. Marcello, Esq. of the law firm, Pitaro & Fumo, 

Chtd. who moves this court for immediate dismissal of the indictment. 

MOTION TO DISMISS INDICTMENT 

 

/// 

 

 

/// 

Case Number: C-17-323098-1

Electronically Filed
10/19/2018 10:24 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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This motion is based on the attached Memorandum of Points and Authorities together 

with the pleadings and papers on file herein and any argument, testimony and evidence that may 

be presented at the hearing on this Motion. 

 DATED: 10/19/2018 
                                                                                              
        THOMAS F. PITARO ESQ 

    s/ Thomas Pitaro                            .                         

        Nevada Bar No. 1332 
 
 

 

 

NOTICE OF MOTION 

TO: THE STATE OF NEVADA, Plaintiff; and 
 
TO: STEVE WOLFSON, DISTRICT ATTORNEY, by and through 
            his Deputy District Attorney. 
 
 YOU WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the undersigned will bring the foregoing 

Motion on for hearing on the    day of ______________, 2018 at _______ A.M., or as 

soon thereafter as counsel may be heard, in the above-entitled Court. 

DATED: 10/19/2018 
                                                                                              
        THOMAS F. PITARO ESQ 

    s/ Thomas Pitaro                            .                         

        Nevada Bar No. 1332 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

30                  October                              8:30
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

In November of 2016, the defendant, Ramon Dorado, was charged with Sexual Assault 

in violation of NRS 200.364 and 200.366. The alleged incident took place over 18 years ago 

on April 24, 1999. The victim, Michelle Lehr, reported the assault to the Las Vegas 

Metropolitan Police Department that same evening.  

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

Lehr gave the police incredibly detailed information regarding the alleged assailant. 

She told police his name was Raymond and that he went by Ray. She indicated he was a 

member of the band playing at the Silver Saddle Saloon on April 23, 1999. Specifically, she 

told police he played the drums. She went on to tell police that he was Latino, 5’6”, 

approximately 180 pounds, and that on the evening in question, he was dressed in a light shirt, 

black pants, a black tie, and brown cowboy boots.  

Lehr told the police exactly where to find Ray. She gave police his address (2101 

Surprise Ave.) and told them that his apartment was located on the downstairs right side of 

the orange building with a pool. She said he lived with a roommate who was also Hispanic 

and who appeared to be about 20 years old.  

Lehr also gave police a list of witnesses who saw her and Ray together on the night in 

question. She told police they could speak to her friend Maria “Candy” Perez because she had 

also been talking to Ray that evening. She also told police that she was talking to a security 

guard and bartender at the Saddle Saloon that evening. She could not remember the 

bartender’s name, but she knew it started with “A”. After providing all of this information to 

the detectives, Lehr was taken to University Medical Center where a sexual assault 

examination was performed. 
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Despite the wealth of information provided by Ms. Lehr, LVMPD and the District 

Attorney’s office failed to adequately follow up of the case.  The LVMPD Case Monitoring 

and Closure form indicates that detectives spoke with the victim again approximately a week 

after the assault. They then contacted the Silver Saddle Saloon and were told that the Ray in 

question was Ramon, the accordion player from the band. There are no other notes in the file 

to indicate that detectives followed up on this lead or made any attempts to contact Ray. 

Moreover, there is nothing to indicate that detectives followed up on any other leads including 

the apartment address provided by Lehr. Instead, the case was cleared by Detective Barry 

Jensen (PN 3662) on June 8, 1999. On January 5, 2000, Detective Jensen signed the Evidence 

Disposition Order for the items related to the case.  

There were no attempts to indict Mr. Dorado for over 17 years, until there was a 

political push to process a large number of untested Nevada rape kits in 2016. Ms. Lehr’s 

sexual assault kit was among those tested. The DNA in that kit was a match to the defendant, 

Ramon Dorado. Mr. Dorado’s DNA was in the system from a previous, unrelated charge. Due 

to the matching DNA, the District Attorney’s office filed charges against Mr. Dorado, despite 

the incident having occurred 17 years previously.  

On the night in question, Mr. Dorado and Lehr engaged in consensual sexual activity 

after enjoying the evening together at the bar. Lehr agreed to leave the bar with him and 

willingly went to his house to engage in sexual activity. Despite Lehr’s timely reports to the 

police, the police chose not to indict Mr. Dorado, not for failure of knowing his identity. The 

newly found DNA matching Mr. Dorado does not provide the police with new evidence 

against Mr. Dorado, as his identity was never in question. There exists the same amount of 

evidence against Mr. Dorado as existed when Lehr accused him of sexual assault, and the 
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state chose not to pursue indictment. However, due to the huge delay between the incident and 

the indictment, Mr. Dorado is severely disadvantaged in his attempts to clear his name of this 

heinous charge. 

 
ARGUMENT 

THE COURT LACKS JURISDICTION BECAUSE THE STATUTE OF 
LIMITATIONS BARS PROSECUTION IN THIS CASE 

 
 Statute of Limitations  

NRS 171.085 (1) provides a four year statute of limitations for filing a criminal 

complaint based on an allegation of sexual assault.1

 The allegations in this case are stated in the Information to have occurred in 1999.  A 

complaint was required to have been filed sometime prior to 2003.  This case was filed in 2016, 

well outside the statute of limitations.  Accordingly, the Court does not have jurisdiction and 

must dismiss the case against Dorado.   

  

 
 

NRS 171.083 

NRS 171.083 essentially exempts sexual assault allegations from any statute of 

limitations if a person “files with a law enforcement officer a written report” concerning a 

sexual assault.  Specially the statute     

 
 NRS 171.083(1) states in relevant part: 

If, at any time during the period of limitation prescribed in NRS 171.085 and 
171.095, a victim of sexual assault. . . files with a law enforcement officer a 
written report concerning the sexual assault or sex trafficking, the period of 

                            
1 A recent amendment(2015 Nev. AB 212) has expanded the time period to 20 years, but only if 
the act occurred prior to October 1, 2015, if the applicable statute of limitations has commenced 
but has not yet expired on October 1, 2015.  Neither condition applies in this case.   
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limitation prescribed in NRS 171.085 and 171.095 is removed and there is no 
limitation of time within which a prosecution for the sexual assault of sex 
trafficking must be commenced. 
 

Under this statute, an allegation can be made and charges can be filed after all witnesses 

have passed or disappeared and all evidence of innocence or guilt has long expired.  The only 

protection of an accused is that the allegation and/or investigation may have been memorialized 

and allow for at least some ability to investigate and possibly gather evidence to prove 

innocence.    

However, in the present case, there isn’t a memorialization.  The State claims but cannot 

produce a police report from 1999. Given that NRS 171.083 specially requires a “written report” 

and no such report exists, the statute of limitations applies and the case must be dismissed for 

lack of jurisdiction.   

 
THE STATE’S PRE-INDICTMENT DELAY IN CHARGING DORADO 
VIOLATES DUE PROCESS AND HAS EFFECTIVELY PRECLUDED HIM 
FROM PRESENTING A DEFENSE  

 
"The Fifth Amendment guarantees that defendants will not be denied due process as a 

result of excessive preindictment delay." United States v. Sherlock, 962 F.2d 1349, 1353 (9th 

Cir. 1989). Statutes of limitations are the primary protection against prosecutorial delay. Id.  By 

enumerating a specific amount of time that the government has to charge an individual, a statute 

of limitations protects the defendant against the possibility of prejudice due to the prosecution of 

overly stale criminal charges.” United States v. Huntley, 976 F.2d 1287, 1290 (9th Cir. 1992). 

Further, the United States Supreme Court has stated that statutes of limitations are said to 

represent legislative assessments of the relative interests of the government and the defendant in 

administering and receiving criminal justice and to protect the defendant against possible, as 
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opposed to actual, prejudice from the prosecution of overly stale criminal  charges.  United 

States v. Marion, 404 U.S. 307, 322 (1971). Still, even when prosecution is instituted within the 

statute of limitations, the Due Process Clause still protects a defendant from prejudice resulting 

from government delay. Id. Specifically, the court must dismiss the charges if the pre-indictment 

delay prejudices the defendant and violates the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment. 

United States v. De Jesus Corona-Verbera, 509 F.3d 1105, 1109 (9th Cir. 2007). 

The allegations in this case are that Dorado and the complaining witness engaged in 

sexual activity and that she did not consent.  According to the State’s theory, Dorado met the 

woman at the club he was performing at as a jazz musician.  The pair went to an apartment one 

evening and had sex.  The woman claims it was not consensual.   

The complaint was filed some 17-years after the alleged incident.  According to the 

information provided by the State, police were aware of Dorado’s place of employment, that he 

was a musician for the club and his name.  No attempt was made to speak to Dorado and no 

attempt was made to bring this case against him until 17-years later.   

Witnesses are now gone or can’t be located.  Evidence lost to time.  Under the State’s 

theory this case is one of consent.  It would be necessary to present witnesses who were present 

when the couple were at the club, how the interacted that may have shown the encounter was 

consensual, people who were talked to later, individuals that may have been present in the 

apartment where it took place, patrons who saw their interactions and basically any witnesses at 

all other than who the State wishes to call.   

Most shocking, under NRS 171.083, there is no requirement that police inform an 

individual that they are a suspect of a crime. This ensures that the suspects will not have the 

chance to memorialize any witness statements or collect any evidence of their own. This further 
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violates the rights of the truly innocent suspect, who has no reason to think that he or she might 

need to collect evidence or memorialize their alibi.   

NRS 171.083 cannot stand. As written, it legalizes prosecutorial prejudice in clear 

violation of the Fifth Amendment and interferes with a defendant’s right to call their own 

witnesses in violation of the Sixth Amendment.  

Another purpose of statutes of limitations is to limit pre-indictment delays by forcing 

prosecutors to either file or abandon charges against crime suspects. United States v. De Jesus 

Corona-Verbera, 509 F.3d 1105, 1109 (9th Cir. 2007). Even when an indictment is brought 

within the statute of limitations, the court must dismiss the charges if the pre-indictment delay 

prejudices the defendant and violates the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment. Id. 

Actual Prejudice 

In order to show a due process violation, a defendant need only show that (1) he has 

suffered prejudice as a result of the delay; and (2) when weighted against the reasons for the 

delay, the delay offends “those fundamental conceptions of justice which lie at the base of our 

civil and political institutions.” United States v. Lovasco, 431 U.S. 783, 788-90 (1977). The 

actual prejudice which must be shown “will inevitably be the loss of witnesses and/or physical 

evidence or the impairment of their use, e.g., dimming of the witness’s memory.” United States 

v. Mays, 549 F.2d 670, 677 (9th Cir. 1977). The longer the delay, the more likely it is to be 

prejudicial. United States v. De Jesus Corona-Verbera, 509 F.3d 1105, 1109 (9th Cir. 2007). 

The determination of whether a pre-indictment delay has violated due process is 

essentially decided under a balancing test. United States v. Moran, 759 F.2d 777, 779 (9th Cir. 

1985). A defendant need not show that the government intentionally or recklessly delayed the 

indictment. Id. On the contrary, a defendant need only show the government acted negligently in 
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delaying the case and that the delay prejudiced the defendant. Id. Ultimately, the court must 

balance the length of the delay against the reasons for it and inquire “whether the Government’s 

action in prosecuting after substantial delay violates ‘fundamental conceptions of justice’ or ‘the 

community ’s sense of fair play and decency.’” Lovasco, 431 U.S. at 790. Furthermore, reckless 

delay with disregard for the likelihood that a defendant will suffer prejudice, will violate due 

process, regardless of the length of the delay, so long as actual prejudice has been proved. Id, at 

789-90.   

Here, it is obvious that a due-process violation has occurred. Using the factors 

articulated by the Supreme Court in Lovasco, the defendant has been prejudiced as a result of 

the delay by the state, and the reasons for the delay offend fundamental conceptions of justice. 

The state waited 18 years to indict Mr. Dorado, during which time, the majority of the physical 

evidence was destroyed, the defense’s key eyewitness died, and most of the witnesses moved 

away and were lost. Furthermore, the original investigators on the case have all since retired and 

the police report from that night was lost. All of which could have been avoided but for the 

state’s negligence and reckless disregard for the defendant’s rights.  

These witnesses would have exonerated Dorado by showing his interactions with the 

witness were consensual and that her actions before, during, and after showed that the entire 

encounter was consensual in nature.  The witnesses 15-years ago would have testified as to the 

interactions between Dorado and the witness the night in in question, that she indicated she was 

leaving to go home with Dorado and that later when she expressed anger to them when he did 

not wish to have a relationship with her.   

The pendulum has swung, it is no longer sufficient to simply say I am innocent.  

Individuals charged with sexual assault are charged by society with the burden of showing 
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evidence of consent.  As all acts in this case occurred between the individuals, the only people 

that can provide evidence of consent are those that were at the club or at the apartment the night 

in question.  Because of the significant delay – solely at the discretion of Metro to close the 

matter in 2000 – the Defendant is precluded from finding or presenting these witnesses to show 

consent.     

LVMPD had more than enough information to find not only Mr. Dorado, but several 

other witnesses during their original 1999 investigation. Rather than finding those witnesses and 

memorializing their statements, police negligently chose not to pursue the case. Their 

negligence should not be Dorado’s downfall.  See, State v. Autry, 103 Nev. 552 (1987).   

However, the fact that detectives at the time did not believe the victim and chose not to 

pursue the case does not indemnify the prosecution from dismissal for pre-indictment delay. On 

the contrary, the government’s possession of the necessary information to find key witnesses is 

analogous to cases where illegal aliens were “found” in by U.S. law enforcement years prior to 

their indictment by immigration officials. Several circuit courts have held that the statute of 

limitations in those cases begins to run not at the point when the alien was actually found, but at 

the point where the government should have found them. See United States v. Gomez , 38 F.3d 

1031, 1037 (8th Cir. 1994) (statute of limitations begins when immigration could have 

discovered the violation, using diligence typical of law enforcement authorities); and United 

States v. Clarke, 312 F.3d 1343, 134748 (11th Cir. 2002) (statute of limitations starts when 

immigration authorities could have discovered alien’s illegal presence ). Similarly here, the fact 

that the government had the information necessary to find Mr. Dorado and other key witnesses 

yet did nothing with it was negligence at best. Furthermore, it demonstrates a reckless disregard 

for the likelihood that a defendant will suffer prejudice as a result of the delay.  
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It is well known that many sexual assault cases hinge on eyewitness testimony and 

hearsay evidence. In the present case, there were no fewer than four eyewitnesses who saw the 

defendant and Ms. Lehr interacting on the night in question. Had they been interviewed by 

detectives, these individuals would have testified that Ms. Lehr and the defendant were flirting 

all evening; that the two had kissed, held hands, and displayed affection all night; and that Ms. 

Lehr left the club with the defendant willingly and expressed her intention to have sex with him. 

However, the police were negligent in their investigation and chose not to interview those 

individuals or to memorialize their testimony in any way. Now, eighteen years following the 

incident, three of those eyewitnesses have moved and cannot be located. This is an unacceptable 

prejudice against the defendant.  

Furthermore, the witness with the most exculpatory evidence for the defendant has died. 

Mariam Adams was the nurse who performed the sexual assault examination on Ms. Lehr. 

Unfortunately, Ms. Adams died in 2011. Her death precludes cross examination regarding her 

observations during the examination. Specifically, she told detectives that “the victim had little 

bruising…and that it was not definitive for sexual assault.” The fact that the defense can no 

longer call a key witness due to the negligence of the state is a violation of Mr. Dorado’s Fifth 

and Sixth Amendment rights.  

Further, the detectives exhibited both negligence and recklessness by ordering the 

destruction of the physical evidence from that evening, including the clothing Ms. Lehr was 

wearing. As a result of the detectives’ misconduct, Mr. Dorado has been denied the opportunity 

for an unbiased, expert witness to analyze some of the most crucial evidence in the case. The 

destruction of the victim’s clothing and other personal effects irreconcilably prejudices the 
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defense. Allowing the charges against Mr. Dorado to move forward despite the state’s actions 

would clearly violate the notions fair play and substantial justice.  

There is little doubt that Mr. Dorado has suffered prejudice as a result of the state’s delay 

in this case. Some of the most crucial evidence to his exoneration was destroyed and his key 

eyewitness have died. Furthermore, the government cannot provide any legitimate reason for the 

delay. This is not a case where key information was unavailable to the state, on the contrary, 

their failure to follow up on key information shows negligence on the part of LVMPD and a 

reckless disregard for Mr. Dorado’s rights. NRS 171.083 cannot indemnify the state from the 

consequences of their actions. The only solution that conforms with fairness and justice is to 

dismiss the charges with prejudice.  

 

 
CONCLUSION 

 Based on the foregoing, memo requests that he be released from custody and that the 

Indictment be dismissed. 

 DATED: 10/19/2018 
                                                                                              
        THOMAS F. PITARO ESQ 

    s/ Thomas Pitaro                            .                         

        Nevada Bar No. 1332 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on the 19th day of October 2018 I did serve the forgoing Motion to 

Sever on the Clark County District Attorney’s Office through electronic service by filing in the 

E-File system with the Clark County Court, and provided a courtesy copy to the following email: 

 
motions@clarkcountyda.com  
 
 
                                                                                              
        THOMAS F. PITARO ESQ 

    s/ Thomas Pitaro                            .                         

        Nevada Bar No. 1332 
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OPPS 
STEVEN B. WOLFSON 
Clark County District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #001565 
JACOB J. VILLANI 
Chief Deputy District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #011732  
200 Lewis Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 
(702) 671-2500 
Attorney for Plaintiff 

 
DISTRICT COURT 

 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 
 

THE STATE OF NEVADA, 
 
    Plaintiff, 
 
  -vs- 
 
RAMON MURIL DORADO, 
#1673321  
 
              Defendant. 

 

CASE NO: 

DEPT NO: 

C-17-323098-1 

XXIX 

 
 

STATE’S OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT’S  
 

MOTION TO DISMISS INDICTMENT 
 

DATE OF HEARING:  OCTOBER 30, 2018 
TIME OF HEARING:  9:00 AM 

COMES NOW, the State of Nevada, by STEVEN B. WOLFSON, Clark County 

District Attorney, through JACOB J. VILLANI, Chief Deputy District Attorney, and hereby 

submits the attached Points and Authorities in this State's Opposition to Defendant’s Motion 

To Dismiss Indictment. 

This Opposition is made and based upon all the papers and pleadings on file herein, the 

attached points and authorities in support hereof, and oral argument at the time of hearing, if 

deemed necessary by this Honorable Court. 

// 

// 

Case Number: C-17-323098-1

Electronically Filed
10/29/2018 10:35 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

 On April 27, 2017, the State of Nevada (“State”) filed an Indictment charging 

Defendant Ramon Muril Dorado (“Defendant”) with three (3) counts of Sexual Assault.  

 On May 18, 2017, Defendant was arraigned. Because Defendant refused to participate 

in the process, the Court entered a plea of not guilty and invoked Defendant’s 60-day trial right 

on his behalf. Defendant’s trial was set to begin on July 17, 2017.  

 On June 12, 2017, Defendant filed a Motion for Own Recognizance Release, which 

was denied on June 15, 2017.  

 On June 20, 2017, Defendant filed a Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Preserve 

Evidence, which was denied on July 6, 2017.  

 On June 30, 2017, Defendant filed a Motion to Suppress Evidence Obtained Pursuant 

to Search Warrant, which was denied on July 13, 2017. 

 On July 12, 2017, Defendant filed a Motion to Compel Production of Discovery and 

Brady Material, which was denied without prejudice on July 18, 2017. 

 On July 13, 2017, Defendant’s trial was continued by the Court for one week to 

accommodate the Court’s schedule. Defendant’s trial was set to begin on July 24, 2017.  

 On July 17, 2017, Defendant filed a Motion to Dismiss for Destruction of Evidence, 

which was denied on August 15, 2017. 

 On July 18, 2017, Defendant waived his 60-day trial right and requested that his trial 

be continued. Defendant’s trail was set to begin on November 27, 2017.  

 On August 21, 2017, Defendant’s case was reassigned from Department II to 

Department XVIII. 

 On November 9, 2017, Defendant filed another Motion for Own Recognizance Release 

or Bail Reduction, which was denied on November 16, 2017. 

 On December 29, 2017, Defendant filed, in proper person, a Motion to Dismiss 

Counsel. Defendant’s counsel at the time was Public Defender Violet Radosta. 

// 
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 On January 11, 2018, the court granted Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss Counsel over 

the State’s objection. 

 On January 25, 2018, current counsel confirmed as counsel of record and Defendant’s 

trial date was vacated and reset to January 14, 2019.  

 On July 2, 2018, Defendant’s case was again reassigned from Department 18 to this 

Court.  

 On October 19, 2018, Defendant filed a second Motion to Suppress Evidence Obtained 

Pursuant to Search Warrant, arguing the same issues presented in his June 30, 2017 motion.  

 Also on October 19, 2018, Defendant filed a Motion to Dismiss Indictment arguing the 

same issues presented in his June 20, 2017 motion, attached as Exhibit 1. 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

 In the late hours of April 23, 1999, into the morning of April 24, 1999, M.L. went out 

dancing with her friends Candy and Joanna at the Silver Saddle bar. Grand Jury Transcript 

(“GJT”) p. 7. While at the bar, M.L. met one of the members of the band playing that night 

who was introduced to her as Raymond aka Ray, later identified through DNA evidence as 

Ramon Muril Dorado (“Defendant”).  Id.  After talking to Defendant for a bit, M.L. left briefly 

to check on her son who was staying at Candy’s house right down the street. Id.  When M.L. 

came back to the bar, Candy, Joanna and others, including Defendant, were sitting down in 

the back of the bar. GJT p. 8.  M.L. sat between Candy and Defendant.  Id.  Later on in the 

night, the group discussed going to PT’s Pub when the bartender, who was hanging out with 

the group, got off work.  Id. M.L., who was the designated driver for Candy and Joanna, agreed 

to go as long as she was back home by 10:00 am. Id. 

 Around 7:00 am the group decided to leave for PT’s. Id. Joanna went with the bartender 

in his car. Id.  Candy decided last minute to call her boyfriend to pick her up and agreed to 

meet up with M.L. in front of the house by 10:00am so the kids would not think anything. GJT 

p. 9.  On the way to PT’s Defendant said he had to cash his paycheck and stop by his house to 

call in to work. Id. Not thinking anything of it at that time, M.L. drove to Defendant’s house. 

Id. When they got there, Defendant asked M.L. to come inside. Id. Inside the house was a 
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young man who did not speak English.  Id.  Defendant spoke to the young man in Spanish and 

from what M.L. could understand, Defendant sent him to the store to get something.  Id.  When 

the young man left, Defendant picked M.L. up and dragged her into the bedroom as she was 

telling him to put her down. Id. Defendant refused to listen and brought M.L. into the bedroom. 

GJT p. 10.  

 In the bedroom Defendant attempted to kiss M.L. while she pushed him away. Id. M.L. 

told Defendant she had not done anything to suggest she wanted him to kiss her and she was 

going to be leaving.  Id.  When M.L. attempted to walk out the door, Defendant grabbed her 

and threw her on to the bed. Id. Defendant laid on top of her and attempted to kiss her neck 

again.  Id.  M.L. again pushed Defendant off and rushed to the door. Id.  Defendant grabbed 

M.L. again, pulled her shirt up and attempted to take her pants off. Id.  M.L. fell to her side, 

once again pushed Defendant off and tried running for the door.  Id.  Defendant grabbed her 

again, threw her against the wall and pulled her pants down even more.  Id.  Defendant threw 

M.L.’s legs over her head and pulled her panty hose down. Id.  Defendant then put his mouth 

on M.L’s vagina using both his mouth and tongue. GJT 10-11. M.L. pushed Defendant forward 

and tried to find something to throw at him or hit him with.  GJT p.11.  M.L. tried to shove 

clothes in Defendant’s face, attempting to smother him.  Id.   

As M.L. continued to struggle with Defendant, he got one of her legs out of her panty 

hose, flipped her back on the ground and laid on top of her trying to push her legs apart.  Id.  

As M.L. was trying to hold her legs together, Defendant held her arms, pulled her legs apart 

and attempted to insert his penis inside her vagina.  Id.  M.L. continued to fight Defendant and 

using her one free hand tried to find something to hit him with. GJT p. 12.  M.L. was ultimately 

able to find one of the safety pins from her pants, which held her pants up, and stabbed 

Defendant in the shoulder and hand. Id. However, that did not stop Defendant and he used one 

of his hands to move his penis inside her vagina.  Id.  M.L. could feel his penis and hand inside 

and outside of her vagina.  Id.  Defendant was not able to keep his penis inside M.L.’s vagina 

because he was unable to keep his erection. Id.  After a couple of minutes of trying, Defendant 

got up and allowed M.L. to get her stuff.  Id.  As Defendant sat there, he kept saying “she’s 
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right, she’s right”, while M.L. asked him what part of “no means no” did he not understand.  

Id. Defendant responded that he was not talking about what just happened but about his ex-

wife telling him he will never be able to have sex with another woman again. GJT 12-13.  As 

M.L. walked out, she saw that the young man was back from the store. GJT p. 13.   

 M.L. returned to Candy’s house to check on her son and they immediately took her to 

the police station. Id.  M.L. told the police what happened and they took her to UMC, where 

a Sexual Assault Kit (“SAK”) was conducted.  Id.  

On October 27, 2015, the resulting DNA profile developed from the vaginal swabs of 

M.L.’s SAK was uploaded into the local and national DNA index system (“CODIS”).  

 On December 23, 2015, the DNA profile returned a match to Defendant’s known DNA 

profile.  

On January 27, 2016, LVMPD Detective Lora Cody drafted a Search Warrant for a 

Buccal swab or blood sample from Defendant’s person in order to confirm the CODIS match. 

The warrant was signed by the Honorable Nancy Allf, District Court Judge. 

On November 17, 2016, the Buccal swab obtained from Defendant pursuant to the 

search warrant was compared to the DNA profile developed from the vaginal swabs of M.L.’s 

SAK and found to be a match with the probability of selecting a random individual with the 

same DNA profile being 1 in 1.45 sextillion (1 in 1,450,000,000,000,000,000,000). 
 

ARGUMENT 
 

I. DEFENDANT’S MOTION SHOULD BE DENIED BECAUSE THE ISSUES 
RAISED HAVE ALREADY BEEN DECIDED BY THE PREVIOUS 
COURT. 

 Defendant’s instant Motion argues that this Court should dismiss the Indictment in this 

case for two reasons: (1) This Court lacks jurisdiction because the Statute of Limitations bars 

prosecution; and (2) The delay in filing this case has precluded Defendant from presenting a 

defense. Defendant is mistaken as to a key fact regarding his first claim, and his second claim 

raises the same issues previously raised in Defendant’s June 30, 2017 Motion to Dismiss for 

Failure to Preserve Evidence. Therefore, Defendant’s motion should be denied.  

// 
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A. The Statute of Limitations Does Not Divest this Court of Jurisdiction in this 

Case 

Defendant claims that NRS 171.085 provided for a four-year statute of limitations prior 

to the October 1, 2015 amendment, which is correct. Motion, p. 5. Defendant also 

acknowledges that NRS 171.083 exempts the crime of sexual assault from any statute of 

limitations if a written report is filed by law enforcement concerning the sexual assault within 

the time period statue of limitations, which is also correct. Id. 

However, Defendant claims that the provisions of NRS 171.083 do not apply to the 

instant case because “[t]he State claims but cannot produce a police report from 1999.” 

Motion, p. 6. This assertion is incorrect. The police report in question was contained within 

the PDF document titled “EV - Archived Events - LLV990424001124 -   - 4846 - PEREZ - 

MARIA - 4_24_1999” which the State produced in discovery and Defendant acknowledged 

receiving on June 27, 2017. See Receipt of Copy attached as Exhibit 3 to this Opposition and 

filed with this Court on June 27, 2017. In fact, the State even attached the police report from 

1999 as Exhibit 2 to State’s Opposition to Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss for Failure to 

Preserve Evidence, which was filed on June 29, 2017. See Exhibit 2 to Exhibit 2, attached to 

the instant opposition. 

As the entire premise for Defendant’s argument that NRS 171.083 does not apply to 

this case is false, his claim lacks merit and should be denied. 

B. Defendant Previously Raised The Balance of The Issues in His Instant Motion 

With the Previous Court, and They Were Denied 

Defendant claims that the State’s pre-indictment delay in charging him violates due 

process and has effectively precluded him from presenting a defense. Motion, p. 6. Defendant 

made these same claims in his June 20, 2017 Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Preserve 

Evidence. See Exhibit 1.  

Generally, matters that have been heard and disposed of shall not be renewed in the 

same cause, nor shall such matters be reheard. EDCR 2.24(a). Furthermore, a party seeking 

reconsideration of a ruling of the court….”must file a motion for such relief within 10 days 
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after services of written notice of the order or judgement unless the time is shortened or 

enlarged by order…”  See generally, EDCR 2.24(b). In this case, the District Court was 

previously briefed by both parties as to the issues raised in Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss for 

Failure to Preserve Evidence, and that motion was denied by the previous court after extensive 

argument.  

Defendant argues in his current motion that because Defendant’s identity was not 

known for 17-years, he is now prejudiced due to the delay in filing the case.1 However, as 

discussed, supra, NRS 171.083 specifically provides there is no statute of limitations under 

the circumstances of this case. Defendant attempts to shoehorn an argument that NRS 171.083 

is unconstitutional with the single line in his motion: “NRS 171.083 cannot stand.” Motion, p. 

8. However, the provisions at issue in NRS 171.083 have been the law since October of 1997, 

and Defendant has not set forth a valid challenge to the constitutionality of the statute.  

 Statutes are presumed to be valid, and the challenger bears the burden of showing that 

a statute is unconstitutional. Silvar v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court , 122 Nev. 289, 292-293 

(2006). In order to meet that burden, the challenger must make a clear showing of invalidity. 

Id. Here, Defendant has not made a cognizable argument as to how NRS 171.083 is 

unconstitutionally vague or overbroad, and has not provided the State or this Court with any 

authority upon which to base such an argument. 

 Defendant claims he has suffered “actual prejudice” as a result of the delay in filing 

this case, but all arguments of such alleged prejudice were previously argued by his former 

counsel in front of the former court and found to lack merit. Defendant argues in the instant 

motion that he is prejudiced because evidence and witnesses have been lost during the time 

his identity was unknown. These are the same issues he argued in his Motion to Dismiss for 

Failure to Preserve Evidence, and the previous court considered the argument and found the 

arguments lacked merit. See Exhibit 1 for Defendant’s prior claims, and Exhibit 2, pp. 7-13 

for the State’s specific responses to Defendant’s claims. Therefore, Defendant is now 

                                              
1 More specifically, Defendant argues that his identity was known at the time by stating “The newly found DNA matching Mr. Dorado 
does not provide the police with new evidence against Mr. Dorado, as his identity was never in questions.” Motion, p. 4. This statement 
is patently false. Detectives did not know Defendant’s identity until the information was received from the CODIS notification. The 
closest Detectives got to an actual name in 1999 was “Ray the accordion player,” with a possible alias of “Raymond.” 
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precluded from re-raising the same issues in front of this Court.   

Defendant previously made the argument that “… witnesses would have exonerated 

Dorado by showing his interactions with the witness were consensual …” throughout his 

previous motion. The State argued extensively that it is Defendant’s burden to show the 

evidence at issue was material to his case under Daniels v. State, 114 Nev. 261 (1998). The 

previous court found Defendant was unable to meet this burden and denied the motion. 

Defendant does not now get a second bite at the apple simply because he is in front of a new 

Court.  

The State implores this Court to read the previous briefing in this case, which the State 

has attached to the instant opposition. If there is an issue that this Court determines requires 

further briefing, the State is happy to provide this Court further briefing on specific issues. 

However, Defendant should not get to re-argue all of the issues previously decided in his case 

simply because his case was reassigned to a different court. For these reasons, Defendant’s 

instant motion should be denied.  

// 

// 

// 

// 

// 

// 

// 

// 

// 

// 

// 

// 

// 

// 
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CONCLUSION 

The State respectfully requests that this Court deny Defendant’s instant motion, as all 

of the issues raised were previously litigated in this case. Alternatively, if this Court feels there 

are further issues the Court needs briefed, the State requests leave to file an amended 

opposition addressing the specific issues the Court feels were inadequately briefed in the first 

instance. The State has ordered but not yet received the transcripts from the previous extensive 

oral arguments regarding these matters, and the transcripts should be available to access in 

Odyssey when complete. 

DATED this 29th day of October, 2018. 
 

Respectfully submitted, 
 

STEVEN B. WOLFSON 
Clark County District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #001565 
 

 
 BY /s/ JACOB J. VILLANI 
  JACOB J. VILLANI 

Chief Deputy District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #011732 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I hereby certify that service of the above and foregoing was made this 29th day of 

OCTOBER, 2018, to: 
 
 THOMAS PITARO, ESQ. 
 kristine.fumolaw@gmail.com 
  
 
 
 BY /s/ HOWARD CONRAD 

   Secretary for the District Attorney's Office 
   Special Victims Unit 
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0205 
PHILIP J. KOHN, PUBLIC DEFENDER 
NEVADA BAR NO. 0556 
VIOLET R. RADOSTA, DEPUTY PUBLIC DEFENDER 
NEVADA BAR NO. 5747 
PUBLIC DEFENDERS OFFICE 
309 South Third Street, Suite 226 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 
Telephone: (702) 455-4685 
Facsimile: (702) 455-5112 
radostvr@co.clark.nv.us 
Attorneys for Defendant 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 
THE STATE OF NEVADA, ) 
 ) 
 Plaintiff, ) CASE NO.  C-17-323098-1 
 ) 

v. ) DEPT. NO. II 
 ) 

RAMON MURIL DORADO, ) 
 ) DATE:  June          ,2017 
 Defendant, ) TIME:  9:00 a.m. 
 ) 
  

MOTION TO DISMISS FOR FAILURE  
TO PRESERVE EVIDENCE 

 

  COMES NOW, the Defendant, RAMON MURIL DORADO, by and through his 

attorney, VIOLET R. RADOSTA, Deputy Public Defender, and moves this Honorable Court for an order 

dismissing the indictment for failure to preserve evidence during the initial investigation of this case in 

April 1999 thereby violating his constitutional rights to due process and a fair trial. 

  This Motion is based upon the attached Declaration of Counsel, any documents attached 

hereto, argument of Counsel and any information provided to the Court at the time set for hearing this 

motion. 

  DATED this 20
th
 of June, 2017. 

      PHILIP J. KOHN 

CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER 

    

     By: _/s/ Violet R Radosta___________________ 
      VIOLET R. RADOSTA, #5747 
      Deputy Public Defender  

Case Number: C-17-323098-1

Electronically Filed
6/20/2017 7:44 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT

July 26, 2017
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DECLARATION 

  VIOLET R. RADOSTA makes the following declaration: 

1. That I am an attorney duly licensed to practice law in the State of Nevada; 

that I am the Deputy Public Defender assigned to represent the Defendant in the instant matter, 

and that I am familiar with the facts and circumstances of this case. 

2. I am more than 18 years of age and am competent to testify as to the 

matters stated herein.  I am familiar with the procedural history of the case and the substantive 

allegations made by The State of Nevada.  I also have personal knowledge of the facts stated 

herein or I have been informed of these facts and believe them to be true.  

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. (NRS 

53.045). 

  EXECUTED this 20
th

  day of June, 2017. 

             

     __/s/ Violet R Radosta______________________  

     VIOLET R. RADOSTA 
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POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

FACTS 

 On April 24, 1999, Michelle Lehr contacted Las Vegas Metropolitan Police and reported 

that she had been sexually assaulted by a man she knew casually.  She had met up with friends at 

the Silver Saddle bar around midnight on April 24, 1999.  At approximately 7 am, Ms. Lehr and 

her male acquaintance left the Silver Saddle in her car purportedly to meet up with friends at a 

PT’s pub.  Instead, Ms. Lehr drove to the man’s apartment at 2101 Sunrise Ave.  They went 

inside the apartment where there was at least one other man, who was younger than Ms. Lehr.   

Shortly after she arrived at the apartment, the younger man left to go to the store.  Soon after 

arriving, Ms. Lehr claims that the man who she knew casually picked her up and dragged her 

into the bedroom where he proceeded to sexually assault her.  (GJT 9-11).    She claims she 

stabbed him with a safety pin to get him to let her go, but it didn’t work.  Eventually, the man 

moved away from her and she was able to walk out of the bedroom and the apartment.  (GJT 13).  

She got into her car and told the other roommate, who had returned at some point and followed 

her outside, that she was going to report the incident to the police.  (GJT 13). 

 She went to the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department substation on St. Louis, after 

stopping at her friend’s apartment to check on her son.   She made a report and was transported 

to University Medical Center for a medical exam. (GJT 13).  All of that occurred on April 24, 

1999. 

 Michelle Lehr was interviewed by LVMPD M. Hnatuick on April 24, 1999.  The 

interview was conducted at the University Medical Center quiet room.  During her interview, 

Ms. Lehr was able to provide a specific address of the apartment building where the alleged 

assault took place as 2101 Sunrise Avenue.  She was also able to identify the location of the 
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apartment as the lower right downstairs apartment.  She identified the casual male acquaintance 

as a Hispanic male named Raymond, 5’6 or 5’7, black hair, brown eyes, medium complexion 

wearing a light shirt, black pants, black tie and brown cowboy boots.  She told Detective 

Hnatuick that the individual had scratches all over his face, but that the scratches had been on his 

face when she had met man earlier in the evening. 

 Fast forward 16 years to October 27, 2015 and Ms. Lehr’s sexual assault examination kit 

was submitted to the LVMPD forensic lab for testing.  On December 15, 2015, a hit from the 

Combined DNA Index System (CODIS) identified Ramon Muric Dorado a potential for the male 

DNA in Ms. Lehr’s SANE kit.  Based on that information, in January 2016 LVMPD obtained a 

search warrant signed by Judge Nancy Alf and requesting a buccal swab be obtained from 

Ramon Muric Dorado.   

 On November 17, 2016, LVMPD forensic lab tested the buccal swab and determined that 

one of the swabs taken in the SANE kit potentially contained DNA from Mr. Dorado.   

 On April 17, 2017, Mr. Dorado was arrested on charges of sexual assault.  He appeared in 

Las Vegas Justice Court on April 19, 2017 and the Public Defender’s office was appointed to 

represent him.  A preliminary hearing date was set for May 26, 2017.   

 On April 26, 2017, Deputy District Attorney Jake Villani presented evidence in this 

matter to the grand jury.  After hearing the evidence presented by the prosecution, the grand jury 

deliberated for less than 1 minute and then indicted Mr. Dorado on 3 counts of Sexual Assault. 

 Mr. Dorado first appeared in the Eighth Judicial District Court Department II on May 4, 

2017.  The matter was continued 2 weeks at Mr. Dorado’s request.  On May 18, 2017, Mr. 

Dorado requested one more week to review the case with his attorney before entering a plea and 

to allow his attorney the opportunity to file a motion for own recognizance release to be heard at 

the same time as his entry of plea.  That request was denied by the Court and the Court entered a 
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not guilty plea on behalf of Mr. Dorado.  The Court also instructed Mr. Dorado and his counsel 

that an own recognizance motion would still be heard by the Court if it was filed.   

 Mr. Dorado invoked his right to a speedy trial and his trial date was set for July 17, 2017 

with a calendar call date of July 11, 2017. 

 This Motion to Dismiss all charges pending against Mr. Dorado follows. 

 

 

ARGUMENT 

 All criminal defendants are entitled to a fair trial pursuant to the Due Process Clauses of 

the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments of the U.S. Constitution and Article I, Section 8 of the 

Nevada Constitution.  Due to the complete and total lack of investigation by the Las Vegas 

Metropolitan Police Department in 1999, when Ms. Lehr first reported this alleged crime, Mr. 

Dorado is unable to receive a fair trial.   The actions or lack of action by the Las Vegas 

Metropolitan Police Department warrant dismissal of all charges against Mr. Dorado. 

Injustice arises from the State's failure to gather evidence.  State v. Ware, 118 N.M. 319, 

881 P.2d 679 (N.M. 1994).   In a criminal investigation, police officers generally have no duty to 

collect all potential evidence. . . however, this rule is not absolute.   Randolph v. State, 117 Nev. 

970, 987, 36 P.3d 424, 435 (2001) (internal citations omitted).  Daniels v. State, 114 Nev. 262, 

956 P.2d 111 (1998).   In certain cases, “a failure to gather evidence may warrant sanctions 

against the State.”  Daniels v. State, 114 Nev. 262, 268, 956 P.2d 111, 115 (1998).   

The Nevada Supreme Court has adopted a two-part test to determine when dismissal of 

charges is warranted due to the State's failure to gather or preserve evidence.  Daniels. at 267-68, 

956 P.2d at 115.  First, the defense must “show that the evidence was material, i.e., that there is a 

reasonable probability that the result of the proceedings would have been different if the 

evidence had been available.”  Second, “if the evidence was material, the court must determine 
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whether the failure to gather it resulted from negligence, gross negligence, or bad faith.”  See id.; 

see also Randolph, 117 Nev. at 987, 36 P.3d at 435.   In the case of mere negligence, no 

sanctions are imposed, but the defense may question the State's witnesses about their 

investigative deficiencies.  See id.   If the Court determines that the State acted with gross 

negligence, the defense is entitled to a presumption that the evidence would have been 

unfavorable to the State. Finally, in the case of bad faith, dismissal of the charges may be 

warranted.  Randolph, 117 Nev. at 987, 36 P.3d at 435 (citing Daniels, 114 Nev. at 267, 956 P.2d 

at 115).   

As stated above, Ms. Lehr was interviewed by LVMPD Detective Hnatuick on April 24, 

1999 at 2:50 in the afternoon. (Ms. Lehr’s interview is attached as Exhibit #1).  She reported that 

at approximately 7am, she drove herself and a man she had been drinking and dancing with 

earlier in the night at the Silver Saddle, to his apartment at 2101 Sunrise Ave.  She didn’t know 

the specific apartment number, but told the detective that it was the downstairs apartment on the 

right-hand side.  Detectives never went to that apartment or even to that apartment building to 

investigate if anyone had heard screaming or witnessed Ms. Lehr leaving the apartment earlier 

that day. 

Ms. Lehr also told detectives that when she entered the apartment with the unidentified 

man, there was another younger man in the apartment who was approximately 20 years old.  She 

was introduced to the younger man by the man she had driven to the apartment, but she couldn’t 

recall his name for detectives.  Prior to Ms. Lehr allegedly being picked up and taken into the 

bedroom, the young man left the apartment to go to the store.  Ms. Lehr told the detective that 

upon leaving the bedroom after the alleged assault, she discovered the young man had returned 

to the apartment.  She allegedly left the bedroom crying which the young man would have seen.  

Ms. Lehr told detectives she didn’t simply leave the bedroom and the apartment, but took the 
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time to speak to the young man.  She even remembered that she called the man that had allegedly 

attacked her an ‘asshole’ and then the young man asked what happened.  Per her statement to 

detectives, Ms. Lehr told the young man what had just happened in the bedroom. 

After speaking with the young man in the living room, Ms. Lehr left the apartment in a 

hurry with the young man following after her asking if she was mad at him.  Ms. Lehr noticed 

that two women in the apartment complex were so surprised by her appearance or her rushing 

out of the apartment or the young man following after her or her hurriedly adjusting her clothes 

that the two ladies just stared at her as she got into her car and drove away. 

According to Ms. Lehr, there is one potential witness who was inside the apartment when 

she arrived and could verify her presence in the apartment with the unidentified man.  That same 

person left for a short period of time, but was inside the apartment at the moment Ms. Lehr left 

the bedroom.  He could have been a witness to her demeanor and her appearance as well as those 

of the unidentified man who appears to be a roommate of this young man.  Beyond that, Ms. 

Lehr TOLD HIM WHAT HAPPENED.  He could have been a confirmatory witness for the State 

had the detectives gone to the apartment and simply made some inquiries.  Finally, there are two 

other potential witnesses who saw her leave the apartment potentially upset and adjusting her 

clothes.  She was noticeable enough in her description that the two ladies stared.  Once again, 

those women might have been located had the detectives simply gone to the apartment complex 

after taking Ms. Lehr’s statement. 

To look at it from the opposite view, had the detectives gone to that apartment complex 

and spoken with the young man, he may not have corroborated Ms. Lehr’s statement.  He may 

not have heard anything that sounded like a struggle or been told that his roommate was an 

‘asshole’ as Ms. Lehr recalled.    Furthermore, the two ladies may have had a different version of 

what they saw had they been located and interviewed by the detectives.  Multiple eye-witnesses 
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to the alleged attack or the moments immediately following the alleged attack could provide an 

immense amount of information that is no longer available to the defense.  This is directly due to 

the lack of investigation by the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department.  At this point, the 

defense is left to speculate what those witnesses saw and heard that day.     

Evidence is material when there is a reasonable probability that had the evidence been 

available to the defense the result of the proceedings would have been different.   Randolph v. 

State, 117 Nev. 970, 987, 36 P.3d 424, 435 (2001).  An eyewitness who was present at the actual 

time of the assault, or who could testify about the appearance and demeanor of the Ms. Lehr 

upon leaving the bedroom or the apartment, or could repeat the story she told immediately after 

leaving the bedroom the eyewitness is material evidence standing on its own.  In this case, there 

isn’t simply one eyewitness but many and none of them were interviewed by the police despite 

the police knowing they existed within a few hours of the alleged assault when their memories 

would have been the freshest.   Now, the State will be able to present the uncontroverted 

testimony of the complaining witness to the jury, which is not a fair or accurate portrayal of the 

allegations.  The State is able to present this snowy white version due to their own failings.    The 

cumulative nature of so much material evidence not being available to the defense clearly rises to 

the level of bad faith on the part of the detectives in this case, which requires dismissal of the 

charges.  Had the detectives simply missed one witness interview then maybe the State could 

argue it was negligence or gross negligence on the part of the investigating officers.  This is an 

example of bad faith due to the amount of uninvestigated information and the nature of that 

uninvestigated information.   

Beyond likely witnesses to the alleged assault, there is other evidence that was not 

gathered or even looked for in this case.  Ms. Lehr tells of a struggle in the bedroom where her 

clothes were forcibly taken off her including her pantyhose.  She kicked at the man and even 

000092



 

9 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

stabbed him on the hand with a safety pin from her clothes.  She described a struggle around the 

bedroom room that was at times on the bed and at times on the floor.  She said she tried reaching 

for something to use to get him off her but only found clothes around the room.   

Based on her description, the police could have sought a search warrant and gone to that 

apartment to look for signs of a struggle.  This was a few hours after the alleged assault.  They 

also could have looked for injuries to the hand or hands of the men who lived at the apartment or 

safety pins on the floor in an effort to corroborate Ms. Lehr’s version of events.  Instead, they did 

nothing.  And, as a result of them doing nothing, there are no crime scene photos, no crime scene 

analysis of the bedsheets and no way for the defense to forensically challenge Ms. Lehr’s version 

of what occurred that day 18 years ago.  Once again, the lack of investigation allows the State to 

present a distorted version of the events that allegedly occurred that morning 19 years ago.  The 

lack of investigation also precludes the defense from having the ability to present a full and 

complete defense.   

In yet another example of how the evidence was disregarded, Ms. Lehr told detectives 

that she had met the man at the Silver Saddle the night before when she was hanging out with her 

friend Candy.  Per her interview, Ms. Lehr’s friend Candy had been dancing with the man that 

had allegedly attacked Ms. Lehr.  Ms. Lehr also told detectives that the individual had been in a 

band, played bass or drums and his name was Raymond.  Detectives failed to go to the Silver 

Saddle to see if there was any video footage from the night before that would corroborate Ms. 

Lehr’s story.  They also could have spoken to bartenders to see how much each of them had to 

drink.  Ms. Lehr told detectives she had only one drink because she didn’t like to get drunk.  

Perhaps that wasn’t the case.  Had detectives gone to the Silver Saddle and asked a few questions 

Ms. Lehr’s details about the hours leading up to the alleged attack would have been confirmed or 

would have been shown to be not true, but detectives didn’t bother. 
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Finally, Ms. Lehr told detectives that after the incident she went to her friend Candy’s 

house to pick up her son and it was decided then that Metro would be contacted.  Detectives 

didn’t bother to interview a witness who could have been a benefit to the State’s case in that she 

was a friend of Ms. Lehr’s.  

This is a case where not a single piece of evidence wasn’t gathered or investigated.  The 

Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department didn’t investigate anything connected to this 

allegation.  They merely took a statement and did nothing else to investigate this case.   While it 

is anticipated that the State will argue, they have no duty to investigate a case in order to produce 

exculpatory evidence for a potential criminal defendant, this is a very unique situation due to the 

age of the case and lack of investigation.  Mr. Dorado is an individual accused of a crime 

allegedly committed 18 years ago.  He is at a complete disadvantage to locate potential witnesses 

and evidence to defend himself and show that he did not commit the crime he is accused of 

committing.  There is no 911 call on file with LVMPD anymore due to their policy of destroying 

calls after a certain period of time.  Perhaps someone heard a woman yelling and screaming as 

she left the apartment and threatening Mr. Dorado.  We will never know.  It appears that the 

apartment building located at 2101 Sunrise Avenue may have been torn down sometime in the 

last 18 years, so the defense cannot subpoena the lease records of anyone living at that address in 

1999.  If there were any potential witnesses at that address, we will never know.  For the sake of 

argument, if the defense is able to locate someone who had relevant information, their memory is 

not as fresh as it would have been in 1999.  Witnesses should be interviewed as close in time to 

the alleged incident when their memory was fresh. 

The State may argue that Mr. Dorado’s DNA was purportedly identified as part of Ms. 

Lehr’s sexual assault kit, so there is no need for all the superlative evidence the defense is 

pointing out.   Even if that result is correct, the case doesn’t end there.  The details of that night 
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are important, the eye witnesses’ impressions of Ms. Lehr’s behavior both before and after the 

alleged attack are important, the potential eye witness who was inside the apartment could be 

extremely important.  Unfortunately, all that information is lost forever and there is no way it can 

be recovered.   

It is anticipated that the argument from the prosecutor will be that the attitude regarding 

the prosecution of sex assault cases was considerable different in 1999 than it is today, that 

purported attitude is not relevant to the case before this Court.  Mr. Dorado is a defendant who is 

entitled to every constitutional right afforded to him by the United States and Nevada 

Constitutions.  Mr. Dorado has a constitutional right to due process and a fair trial.  Whatever 

reason the State offers for the lack of investigation into this allegation is immaterial.  They have 

made the decision to prosecute him and are responsible for the current condition of their case.     

Due to the complete failure of the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department to 

investigate this case, Mr. Dorado cannot receive a fair trial in this case.  A mere fraction of the 

evidence in this case will be presented if this case proceeds to trial and that is not the definition 

of a fair trial. 

The defense respectfully requests that the Court dismiss all charges against Mr. Dorado.  

The evidence that was not obtained in this case is clearly material and the utter lack of interest in 

investigating this case combined with the 18 years that have passed since the allegation 

demonstrate that LMVPD acted in bad faith by not investigating.  The delay in prosecuting this 

case makes it impossible for Mr. Dorado to present an effective defense. 

 

CONCLUSION 

The defense respectfully requests that the Court dismiss all charges against Mr. Dorado.   

Mr. Dorado cannot receive a fair trial pursuant to the Due Process Clauses of the Fifth and 
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Fourteenth Amendments of the U.S. Constitution and Article I, Section 8 of the Nevada 

Constitution.  Due to the complete and total lack of investigation by the Las Vegas Metropolitan 

Police Department in 1999, when Ms. Lehr first reported this alleged crime, Mr. Dorado’s 

constitutional rights are being violated simply by the State’s decision to prosecute this case.  The 

actions or lack of action by the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department warrant dismissal of 

all charges against Mr. Dorado.  

 DATED this 20
th

  day of June, 2017. 

PHILIP J. KOHN 

CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER 

 

     By:__/s/ Violet R Radosta_____________________ 

 VIOLET R. RADOSTA, #5747 

           Deputy Public Defender 
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NOTICE OF MOTION 

 TO: CLARK COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY, Attorney for Plaintiff: 

 YOU WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the foregoing Motion To Dismiss will 

be heard on               , at 9:00 am in District Court Department II. 

DATED this 20
th

  day of June, 2017. 

PHILIP J. KOHN 

CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER 

 
 

     By:__/s/ Violet R Radosta_________________ 
 VIOLET R. RADOSTA, #5747 
 Deputy Public Defender 

 

 

 

 

 

CERTIFICATE OF ELECTRONIC FILING 

  I hereby certify that service of the above and foregoing was served via electronic 

e-filing to the Clark County District Attorney’s Office on the 20
th

 day of June, 2017 by 

Electronic Filing to: 

       

       District Attorneys Office 

       E-Mail Address:  

       Jaclyn.Motl@clarkcountyda.com  

 

 

       /s/ Anita H Harrold____________________ 

       Secretary for the Public Defender’s Office 
 

  

July 6, 2017
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Case Number: C-17-323098-1

Electronically Filed
6/29/2017 3:16 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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